1960

Leslie Price and Lafe Morley v. Ashby's Inc. and General Motors Co., Pontiac Div. : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Throughout this brief, plaintiff Leslie Price, will be referred to as Price. Plaintiff Lafe Morley as Morley. Ashby's Incorporated, a Utah corporation, will be referred to as "Ashby's" and defendant, General Motors Corporation, Pontiac Division, will be referred to as "General Motors".

All Italics are ours.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of an incident which occurred on the 28th day of April, 1958, as plaintiffs were returning from Garrison, Utah, to Delta, Utah, in the 1958 Pontiac Star Chief Sedan owned by Price. The car was being driven by Price in a northeasterly direction on Highway 6-50, approximately 1½ miles West of Delta. There was a slight turn to the left and as the automobile turned on the highway the steering wheel froze in Price's hands and the automobile went straight off the curve and went over in the barrow pit causing the damage to the automobile and injuries to the plaintiffs that were complained of.

The case came on for trial on the 6th day of October, 1959 before the Honorable Aldon J. Anderson. At the close of the plaintiff's evidence, the Court granted both of the defendants' motions to dismiss the complaint.

From the Order of Dismissal this appeal has been perfected.

The evidence reveals the following facts. Price purchased his Star Chief Pontiac Sedan on the 14th of February, 1958. For the first 2,000 miles, the automobile seemed to operate, so far as the air suspension mechanism is concerned, without any difficulty. (R. 34). Some time after the first 2,000 miles of operation, the automobile

began to act in a strange manner in that the right front of the body of the automobile would be near the ground after the automobile had been stopped for a short period of time. This was reported to Ashby's and on one occasion the malfunction was discussed with the Salesman who sold the automobile to Price, one Clay Broderick. On another occasion, it was discussed by Price with the mechanic at the Ashby's, one Jay Fillmore (R. 36). Broderick informed Price that the difficulty with his air suspension was the same as was experienced on all such cars. (R. 36).

Price took the automobile back to Ashby's on four separate occasions to have the air suspension mechanism adjusted but none of the work seemed to change the peculiar way in which the suspension acted and the right front of the car continued to go down.

On several occasions, Price could hear a hissing sound in the right front wheel of the automobile. He never did attempt to fix the air ride himself, (R. 38), but followed the instructions in his Owner's Manual which required him to report each peculiarity in the car to the Dealer from whom he purchased it. (R. 39).

On April 28, 1958, Price and Morley left Delta, about 4:30 in the afternoon and went to Garrison, Utah a distance of about 80 miles.

At Garrison, Morley, who was a real estate salesman, showed Price a ranch which he had listed for sale, and

around 7:30 to 8:00 o'clock Price and Morley, together with a man by the name of "Dierdon" went to supper at Baker, Nevada.

Before supper, Price had two coke highballs which were prepared by the bar keeper at the place where he ate. Following the two drinks he had two ham sandwiches and then drove Mr. Dierdon back to his residence. About 8:30 or 8:45 p.m., Price and Morley left Garrison and headed back toward Delta, Utah. (R. 45 and 46).

On the way back to Delta, Price drove the automobile at 55 and 60 miles per hour. The curve on which the automobile tipped over was not a sharp curve but a gentle curve easterly to a more northerly direction. The highway at the time of the accident was in all respects normal, a smooth oiled surface highway.

Describing what happened, Price stated:

"When we were making that turn it happened so quick, kind of hard to explain, but it seems like the car stepped up and was off and over and when we got out" (R. 46).

Next day after the accident, Price returned to the scene of the accident and examined the highway. He observed that on the surface of the highway he could see brake marks on the oil and the car just went straight along the mark and down over the shoulder. The black

marks on the surface of the highway, Price estimated to be between 50 and 60 feet over all. (R. 51 and 52).

After the automobile had been removed from the scene of the accident, Price observed it at the local service station and noticed that the body of the car was sitting practically with the bottoms of the doors on the ground. (R. 53). On one prior occasion, Price had had the Pontiac automobile greased and when the grease rack was lowered the car came right down onto the ground with the whole body resting on the cement apron around the grease rack. (R. 55).

The repair work on the automobile was done at Carlson's Pontiac-Cadillac garage in Salt Lake City. Since the repair, the peculiar operation of the air suspension ceased. The car rides evenly and there is no longer any air escaping making the hissing sound that Price had noted prior to the accident. (R. 56).

Price's automobile was repaired by one, Milo Solomon, who was called as a witness for the plaintiffs. Solomon had had a lifetime of experience as a general mechanic working over 32 years at his trade. (R. 86). After he had made the necessary repairs Solomon attempted to get the air suspension on the Pontiac to work and could not get it to lift the car to its normal uplift position. Solomon discovered a small hole in the line between the tank of the airlift mechanism which ultimately leads to the right front wheel. (R. 89). The

line where the hole was discovered was near the upper control link of the right front wheel. Solomon was of the opinion that this control link, or arm, a moving part, had rubbed a hole in the line carrying the air. Solomon cut out a portion of the line approximately 16 inches in length and spliced a new piece into the line. Prior to this he had attempted to braze the hole but filled the line full of solder.

Solomon was of the opinion that the line carrying the air to the air suspension mechanism on the right front wheel was supposed to be installed so that it would not touch any moving part. (R. 93, 94). On no other Pontiac had Solomon ever seen the line so close to the control arm. It was his opinion that it should always be clear of any moving part. (R. 95, 96).

As long as the hole was in the line Solomon could not get the airlift to lift the car. (R. 97). When the air is out of the airlift mechanism the body of the car would be very close to touching the ground. (R. 98). The mechanism that creates the lift in the air suspension system is a boot-type of installation with a single boot located at each wheel of the automobile. Without sufficient air pressure in the boot the lift will not occur and the automobile will be down onto its frame. (R. 98). Solomon was of the opinion that the size of the hole in the line would govern whether or not the boot on the wheel would actually perform and create a lift on the automobile. It was Solomon's testimony that the line in which he dis-

covered the hole was in the clamps installed by the factory. (R. 106). There was no evidence that anyone had ever monkeyed with or repaired the line prior to the time Solomon examined it. (R. 106). After Solomon repaired the hole the air mechanism on the automobile would then operate. (R. 107). Solomon had never seen on a Pontiac automobile the air suspension line located where it was on the Price automobile.

Witness Morley returned to the scene of the accident the day afterward and observed on the highway the dark mark on the surface of the road leading down to its edge off toward the point where the automobile of Price tipped over. (R. 137).

Plaintiff called as one of its witnesses a service instructor employed by General Motors Corporation at its General Motors training center in Salt Lake City. His name was Renshaw. Renshaw was unable to testify as to the size of the hole in an air-lift line would be necessary to permit the air pressure to escape and the mechanism become inoperative. (R. 191). Renshaw was of the opinion that if the air-lift lines are properly installed they would not rub on the upper control arm. (R. 201). It was also his opinion that if the line did rub on the upper arm they were either improperly installed or in need of repair. (R. 201). His opinion was also that a hole in the line is a defect in the line. (R. 205). Renshaw was not able to give any opinion as to how large a hole would have to be before it would drain off the air faster

than it could be put in by the air compressor. (R. 213). Only if air pressure is lower or excessive amounts of weight are placed on the front of the automobile would the right front of the automobile be lower than the other corners of the automobile.

Exhibit P. 2 is a diagram of the Pontiac Air Suspension system and shows the point in the system where Witness Solomon discovered the hole. Exhibit P. 3 is the Pontiac Shop Manual for 1958. Page 3A-33 of the Manual is especially significant and was discussed with the witness Renshaw. One significant portion of the Manual explains the reason for the Price automobile going down on the ground after having been placed on the grease rack. It reads as follows:

“Before lifting an air-ride car with any hoist, except drive-on type, pull out car lift knob to raise car to over-ride position, and secure knob in out position. This will lock out levelling action and conserve air pressure in system.”

Price did not pull out the car-lift knob and as a consequence the air escaped from the system and when lowered the frame of the car came down to the level of the floor.

The Manual, at page 3A-33, states that the car-lift knob should be pulled out and held to lift the car a maximum amount while engine is running. Then the engine should be stopped and the knob tied in the out position.

This traps the air in the entire system and towing will be facilitated by the extra clearance provided by the override control car lift feature. If the car-lift knob is not tied or blocked in the out position, jouncing as the car is towed will cause exhaust of air from system. The pressure will have to be restored to maintain clearance for towing. Also, in the Manual, the following statement appears:

“When the air-suspension system has collapsed, ground clearances are at a minimum; therefore the car should be raised prior to towing.”

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE PROVIDES SUFFICIENT BASIS FOR A FINDING BY THE JURY THAT THE AIR RIDE MECHANISM ON THE STAR CHIEF PONTIAC WAS DEFECTIVE.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE PROVIDED SUFFICIENT BASIS FOR THE JURY TO FIND THAT THE DEFECT IN THE AIR-RIDE SUSPENSION MECHANISM OF THE STAR CHIEF PONTIAC CAUSED THE TIP OVER.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE PROVIDES SUFFICIENT BASIS FOR A FINDING BY THE JURY THAT THE AIR RIDE MECHANISM ON THE STAR CHIEF PONTIAC WAS DEFECTIVE.

The opinion of the witness Solomon that the air line providing air pressure to the boots on each of the wheels of the Pontiac automobile should not have been in the position where the upper control arm on the right front wheel could rub against it, was never seriously disputed. The witness, Renshaw, agreed that the line should not be in a position where other moving parts could touch it. It seems to be clear that if the line was in a position where a moving part could touch it or rub against it, the chances that hole would be worn through are so great that it would be dangerous to have such a device installed in an automobile.

Once the line is in the proximity of the upper control arm and the rubbing occurs it is only a matter of time until the hole in the line would appear permitting the air to escape from the line.

Both Solomon and Renshaw agree that the hole in the line is a defect and that it is only a question of size to render the air-ride mechanism completely inoperable. Both seem to feel that a small hole might be com-

pensated for by the Air Compressor and eventually if the hole continued to be enlarged, the Air Compressor would not be able to supply sufficient air to hold up the air-ride mechanism.

The upper control arm rubbing against the line continuously wears and enlarges the hole. When the maximum capacity of the Compressor is passed the system would necessarily fail.

The experience of Price in the use of the automobile is clearly consistent with plaintiff's theory and with the testimony of both Solomon and Renshaw concerning the operation of the Air-ride mechanism.

Price used the new car for a month before there occurred any kind of defect in the air-ride mechanism. Then the defect appeared and he noticed that the automobile would be down on the right front corner whenever it was left standing. Repeated service calls at Ashby's did not alleviate the situation. The increase in the size of the hole continues until finally on the night of April 28th the hole became so large that the Air Compressor could not supply sufficient air to compensate for the leak and the system completely failed.

As against Ashby's, the plaintiffs submit:

That the repeated complaints about the automobile which Ashby's failed to rectify; the obvious nature of

the defect; permitting the automobile to be used even though it had been demonstrated to be defective and even though the mechanics had been unable to discover the cause of the defective operation and rectify it constitutes negligence. Such negligence could well be found from the evidence.

The witnesses all testified that the line, after the tipover, was still in its original clamps and in place on the vehicle. The line was not an inflexible line but was a steel tubing clamped to the frame of the automobile. It is submitted that from this the Jury could have found that the line was installed by General Motors where Solomon found it. It was so close to the upper control arm as to be in a position where a hole would be rubbed in it, in the normal use and operation of the automobile. This, plaintiffs submit, is negligence and could well be found by the Jury.

A Jury interpreting the witnesses' testimony in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs could have found that the system was originally installed in a defective manner by the General Motors; that the defect could have been discovered and repaired by adequate examination by Ashby's, Inc. As a consequence both of the defendants were negligent in permitting the defect to exist in the automobile and failing to discover and rectify the defect.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE PROVIDED SUFFICIENT BASIS FOR THE JURY TO FIND THAT THE DEFECT IN THE AIR-RIDE SUSPENSION MECHANISM OF THE STAR CHIEF PONTIAC CAUSED THE TIP OVER.

Once the air-ride suspension system failed, the automobile rode so close to the ground that the turn to the left caused the automobile to sway to the right and the automobile struck the surface of the road, causing a loss of control and the tip-over described by Price and Morley.

There was no defect in the Price automobile which would explain the loss of control and the tip-over other than the defect in the air-ride mechanism. None of the tires were blown out, no defect in the steering mechanism was discovered, no defect in the surface of the road or other traffic hazards came to light which would explain why the car would leave the road in the manner in which it did. After the tip-over, Morley and Price, observed on the surface of the road a straight mark on the oiled surface leading right up to the edge of the road and onto the shoulder over which the tip-over occurred. Price describes this as a brake-mark. Morley describes it as a dark mark on the road down to the edge of the highway. Such a mark, the Jury could well find might be made by a part of the automobile dragging on the surface of the highway. The exact nature of the mark would depend on the part which struck the road.

Certainly, this straight line across the road and off

present if the automobile was operating in normal fashion. The road mark is consistent with the evidence and supports plaintiff's theory that when the air-ride mechanism collapsed, the automobile would have minimum road clearance. Solomon, Price, and the Manual all bear out this result when the air leaves the system. Any slight variation in the level of the road could cause, a portion of the car, to drag. Swaying of the car might cause such drag.

The law of Utah seems to be clear. Three cases decided by the Court have spelled out the consideration for the Trial Court. They are: *Hooper v. General Motors Corp.*, 123 Utah 515, 260 P. 2d. 549. *Northern v. General Motors Corp.*, 2 Utah 2d. 9, 268 P. 2d. 981, and *Hewitt v. General Tire and Rubber Company*, 3 Utah 2d. 354, 284 P. 2d. 471.

These cases clearly establish the duty of the Manufacturer of an automobile to exercise reasonable care to discover and correct defects in manufacture. The evidence must be considered in the light most favorable to losing party. All the facts surrounding the accident may be considered in arriving at proper decision as to proximate cause.

In the *Northern* case the Court sets down some principles to be considered in deciding whether the evidence is sufficient to show causation. (2 Utah 2d. P. 9)

“(a) The factor which contributed in producing the harm was (taking plaintiff’s theory of the case) the fracture in the steering arm when manufactured;

“(b) Looking back at this time it appears highly probable that the harm was brought about by the manufacturer’s negligence in failing to inspect properly the steering mechanism;

“(c) The manufacturer’s conduct created a factor which appeared in continuous and active operation up to the time of the accident; and

“(d) There was no great lapse of time after the purchase of the vehicle to the day of the accident.”

See also: *Sec. 433, Restatement of Law of Torts, Vol. 2. P. 1165.*

In *Mazietelle v. Belleville Nutley Buick Co.* 46 N.J. Super 410, 134 A. 2d. 820. The New Jersey Court spelled out what appears to be the undisputed law in all jurisdictions concerning the duty of the dealer in automobiles. It said he was under a duty to exercise reasonable care to replace parts and make repairs in a safe and suitable manner, as well as inspect the car for such defects as plaintiff complained of and which a careful inspection would have disclosed.

Plaintiffs’ theory which, it is respectfully submitted, is fully supported by the evidence, seems to be the only

logical explanation of the tip over. When the hole in the air mechanism line became sufficiently enlarged that the compressor could not compensate for its existence, the operation of the automobile exhausted all the air in the system and the automobile became lower and lower on the highway until clearance between the edge of the automobile and the surface of the road was, as stated in the Manual, at a minimum. Then, as Price attempted to make a slight turn to the North at the place where the tip-over occurred, some portion of the automobile came in contact with the surface of the road, caused loss of control of the automobile.

After the air-ride mechanism was repaired by Solomon and the hole in the line repaired by a new piece of line, and after Solomon had removed the line from its close proximity to the upper control arm, the air-ride suspension system in Price's automobile has operated as intended by the manufacturer. The right front no longer goes down, and the car does not have the hissing sound which Price described as occurring prior to the tip-over.

It is respectfully submitted that the evidence clearly demonstrates that the air-ride mechanism of the Price automobile was defective. That the defect was such as to reduce the clearance of the automobile to a minimum when the defect came into full and complete operation; that when the clearance between the surface of the road and the frame of the automobile was at a minimum the risk that a portion of the frame would drag on or come

into contact with the surface of the highway was greatly increased; that the evidence shows that some portion of the automobile did come in contact with the highway and that as a result Price was caused to lose control of his automobile and the serious damage suffered by himself and Morley resulted.

CONCLUSION

Is is respectfully submitted that the Trial Court erred in granting defendants' motions for dismissal of plaintiffs' cause of action at the close of plaintiff's case; that this Court should order a new trial to be granted to plaintiffs and reverse the erroneous Orders of the Trial Court.