1960

Leslie Price and Lafe Morley v. Ashby's Inc. and General Motors Co., Pontiac Div. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT No. I.

PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO PROVE ANY CAUSAL CONNECTION BETWEEN ANY ALLEGED DEFECT IN THE AIR SUSPENSION SYSTEM AND THE ACCIDENT IN QUESTION.

The primary question in this case is an issue of fact and that is, assuming that there was a small

hole in the air line leading from the air reservoir on the Pontiac automobile to the manual control valve, did this small hole or defect proximately cause the accident of April 28, 1958?

We submit that the plaintiffs may have proved that there was a small hole in the air line but that they have not proved anything more. There is no evidence that the compressor supplying air to the air suspension system was not capable of supplying enough air to operate the system even though some air may have been lost between the air reservoir and the manual control valve. In fact, the evidence argues against this since it is admitted that the air compressor would bring the car up to level within seconds after the time the engine was turned on and that on no occasion did the air suspension system go down while the engine was being operated. There is no evidence that the air could escape from the air suspension system suddenly. There were two check valves, one in the manual control arm and one at the front wheels between the boot or air spring on the right wheel and the hole from which it is claimed the air escaped. The evidence shows that the plaintiff Leslie Price, himself, testified that the only time he had trouble with the level of his car was after he let it stand without the engine running for a considerable time (R. 80). The evidence is that with all the air out of the air suspension sys-

tem the car would still have had a road clearance of from three to four inches, and there is no evidence in this record that on the oiled highway in question the clearance of three to four inches would not be sufficient. There is no evidence that even if all of the air were exhausted from the air suspension system the car could not have been operated over the highway. The testimony of both plaintiffs at the time of the accident does not indicate that there was anything wrong with the automobile immediately prior to the accident, both of them merely testifying that suddenly the car went off onto the shoulder and was thrown off the road.

It is significant in this case that there were no marks on the highway prior to the time the car left the oiled surface of the highway, except two brake marks. Neither of the plaintiffs said anything about any dropping of the car, sudden or otherwise, or about "fighting" to maintain control of the automobile. The most logical explanation of the physical evidence is that for some reason plaintiff Leslie Price, in approaching the curve, determined he could not make it, applied his brakes and slid onto the shoulder, which threw him out of control and turned the car over.

The plaintiffs set forth their theory on page 16 of their Brief as follows:

"When the hole in the air mechanism line became sufficiently enlarged that the

compressor could not compensate for its existence, the operation of the automobile exhausted all the air in the system and the automobile became lower and lower on the highway until clearance between the edge of the automobile and the surface of the road was, as stated in the Manual, at a minimum. Then, as Price attempted to make a slight turn to the North at the place where the tip-over occurred, some portion of the automobile came in contact with the surface of the road, caused loss of control of the automobile.”

This is an interesting theory, but where is the evidence to support it? The hole in the air mechanism line, when observed after the accident, was so small that the mechanic had to use soap to find it. Are we to assume the check valves were not working? Are we to assume that the plaintiffs could ride on mile after mile with the air leaving the air suspension system, the car getting closer and closer to the ground and the ride getting rougher and rougher and still not notice the condition? If, as plaintiffs argue, the car swayed and some part of the car touched the ground, are we also to assume that the plaintiffs did not observe this? Where is the evidence on the road that any part of the car, other than the tires, touched the road prior to the time that the car went off onto the shoulder? There is no conflict in the evidence that the body of the car was prevented by the bumpers from ever coming within less than three or four inches of the road.

Are we to assume that the laws of physics became inoperative at this particular time, that is unless the plaintiff went around the curve so fast as to lift the wheels on the inside of the curve off of the surface of the road, in which event the speed and not any defect in the automobile proximately caused the accident?

The proposition that plaintiffs have the burden of proving a causal connection between an alleged act of negligence and the resulting injury is fundamental to our law. In the case of *Rogers v. Rio Grande Western Ry. Co.*, 32 Utah 367, 90 Pac. 1075, which was an action brought against the railroad company for killing a traveler upon the highway, in which it was shown that the statutory signal had not been given by the railroad, Justice Frick said:

“ . . . Counsel argue that the failure to give the statutory signals constitutes negligence per se, and therefore respondent's negligence was established, and this being so, the necessary proof entitling appellants to recover existed and could be defeated only by proof of contributory negligence. It may be conceded that the failure to comply with the statute with regard to warning signals generally constitutes negligence per se, as was held by this court in *Smith v. Min. & S. S. Co.* (Utah) 88 Pac. 683, but proof of negligence without more, however, is not enough. In addition to this the party upon whom rests the burden of proof must show by some competent evi-

dence that the negligence proved was the proximate cause of the injury complained of, or, where there is more than one cause, that it at least was one of the causes. A prima facie case is not established until this is done, and hence the existence or nonexistence of contributory negligence, under such circumstances, is immaterial. . . .”

Restatement Of The Law Of Torts, defining the elements of a cause of action for negligence, states in section 281, page 734:

“The actor is liable for an invasion of an interest of another, if:

“(a) the interest invaded is protected against unintentional invasion, and

“(b) the conduct of the actor is negligent with respect to such interest or any other similar interest of the other which is protected against unintentional invasion, and

“(c) the actor’s conduct is a legal cause of the invasion, and

“(d) the other has not so conducted himself as to disable himself from bringing an action for such invasion.”

And in section 430 of the *Restatement Of The Law Of Torts* it is said:

“In order that a negligent actor shall be liable for another’s bodily harm, it is necessary not only that the actor’s conduct be negligent toward the other in the particulars stated in § 281, Clause (b), and Comment

thereon, but also that the negligence of the actor be a legal cause of the other's harm."

In *Hewitt v. General Tire And Rubber Company*, 3 Utah (2d) 354, 284 Pac. (2d) 471 an action was brought against a tire manufacturer for injuries sustained when the tire exploded. The court said that mere proof of an injury to plaintiff will not justify a verdict, and the court quoted the following from *Hooper v. General Motors Corporation*, 123 Utah 515, 260 Pac. (2d) 549:

"Thus, to impose liability on an assembler of an automobile certain necessary elements must be made out. Plaintiff is required to show: (1) A defective wheel at the time of automobile assembly; (2) Such defect being discoverable by reasonable inspection; (3) Injury caused by failure of the wheel due to its defective condition."

There is nothing in the evidence which establishes by inference or otherwise any causal connection between the small hole in the air line of plaintiffs' Pontiac automobile and the accident which occurred on April 28, 1958. Plaintiffs were represented by an able attorney and it is fair to assume that no evidence of the causal connection between the alleged defect and the accident was presented because in fact and in truth there was none. As Justice Frick said in the case of *Rogers v. Rio Grande Western Ry. Co.*, supra, until this causal connection has been established the question of whether or not

the plaintiffs were contributorily negligent is immaterial or, in other words, in this case the plaintiffs having failed to establish any causal connection between the alleged negligence of the defendants and the accident of April 28, 1958 it was proper for the judge to dismiss the action at that point and not to require the defendants to assume the burden of proving why the accident happened, although this may have been informative and interesting.

POINT No. II.

PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO PROVE ANY NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF ASHBY'S INCORPORATED.

The evidence shows that the defendant Ashby's Incorporated did nothing to cause the condition which the plaintiffs claim was responsible for the accident in this case. The alleged defect, according to the plaintiffs' theory, was a small hole in the air line leading from the air reservoir to the manual control valve caused by a rubbing of the upper control arm of the right front wheel upon the line, which was in turn caused by the line being placed too close to the upper control arm. Plaintiffs' witness testified that there was no evidence of this line ever having been moved by Ashby's Incorporated or others. The plaintiffs' theory of negligence, in so far as Ashby's Incorporated is concerned, seems to be that it did nothing. The interesting query is what plaintiffs would say had defendant Ashby's Incor-

porated moved the control arm. We assume that it would then be that we had done something which we should not have done.

We are not concerned with any theory of implied warranty in this case since it was stipulated at the pre-trial that the theory of the plaintiffs' case is negligence only, and based upon the allegations thereof as set forth in the pre-trial (R. 17).

The ground of negligence claimed against the defendant Ashby's Incorporated is that upon repeated occasions plaintiff Price took the automobile to the defendant for repair and correction of the defect and that it failed, neglected and refused to properly repair the defect or to make said automobile reasonably safe and free from said defect.

The modern automobile is a very complex machine. The fundamental question in this case would appear to be just how much an automobile mechanic in Delta, Utah would be expected to know about the machine or, to state it otherwise, did the plaintiffs prove that a reasonably competent mechanic in the area of Delta, Utah, exercising the care which a reasonably competent mechanic in that area would exercise, would have discovered the defect in the Price automobile. It is submitted that any such evidence is absent from the record. Assuming that there was a hole in the air line leading from the air reservoir to the manual control

valve of the plaintiffs' automobile and that this hole became large enough to allow air to escape from the air suspension system and to cause the accident of April 28, 1958, which we do not believe to be a fact, the proximate cause of this defect, according to the plaintiffs' evidence, was that the air line was placed too close to the manual control arm of the right front wheel. The evidence is further to the effect that the line was placed in the position in which it was found after the accident at the time the car was manufactured. The defect, if any, then arose out of the design of the automobile and not out of anything which the defendant Ashby's Incorporated did. As was said in *Winchester v. Egan Farm Service*, 4 Utah (2d) 129, 288 Pac. (2d) 790, which involved an action by a farmer against an implement dealer for injuries suffered when a lever attached to the baler unlocked and struck the farmer in the face, a dealer has no obligation to change the manufacturer's design of a product. In that case it appeared that a bolt of a different size might have fit better than that provided by the manufacturer. The court said:

"... The designing of this machinery was an engineering job undertaken by the manufacturer and defendant was not negligent if he assembled this lever in accordance with such design and the manufacturer's instructions."

As stated in 5A *Am. Jur.* 655:

"The general rule that one who sells ar-

ticles manufactured by others is under no obligation to test them for the purpose of discovering latent or hidden dangers is applicable to automobile dealers and distributors selling new cars. Such a dealer or distributor generally is not held chargeable with liability for injuries resulting from latent defects in a new automobile sold to a customer, any such liability being the liability of the manufacturer rather than of the seller.

“While an automobile dealer is under no obligation to test a new car for the purpose of discovering latent defects or hidden dangers, he is required to observe the cars as they are received, operate them to see if they operate properly, investigate the cause of any unusual conditions, and investigate the condition of and check the operation of parts or appliances which he might reasonably expect, as a result of his experience and knowledge of the cars, would need attention before being delivered to purchasers. But a dealer is not required to dismantle the automobile to determine whether it is properly built in order to absolve himself from responsibility for damages resulting from defects therein not visible on the usual customary and careful inspection.”

And in 5 *Am. Jur.* 690 it is said:

“... No liability rests upon a dealer in secondhand automobiles to a person who is injured by the operation of a car sold by him, in the hands of one to whom it is sold, from the mere fact that the car is defective. There must be knowledge of the defect, either actual or constructive.”

For a collection of such cases, see 99 *A. L. R.*

240. And in an annotation having to do with injuries caused by defective brakes and the liability of an automobile dealer for such injuries, found at 170 A. L. R. 674, it is said:

"It is generally recognized that an automobile dealer is not required to dismantle the automobile to determine whether it is properly built in order to absolve himself from responsibility for damages resulting from defects therein not visible on the usual customary and careful inspection . . ."

The defect, if any, which we are involved with in this case is a small hole in the air line leading from the air tank reservoir to the manual control valve, so small that, even if we give plaintiffs the benefit of any possible inference which might be drawn from the evidence, it did not materially affect the operation of the car except to permit the right side of the car to go down after a considerable length of time, which was corrected within a matter of seconds when the engine was turned on. The defect was in a line which was up under the frame of the car and was only discovered after the wheel mechanism had been dismantled. Even then it could only be discovered by the most minute of examinations. It is submitted that there is no evidence from which the court could have found that the defendant Ashby's Incorporated was guilty of any negligence in failing to discover the defect which the plain-

tiffs alleged existed in the automobile at the time of the accident.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs sought in this action to recover for injuries they claim to have sustained in an automobile accident which occurred on the night of April 28, 1958 when the automobile in which they were riding turned over while rounding a curve south of Delta, Utah. In their pleadings they allege that the accident was proximately caused by a defect in the air suspension system of the automobile in which they were riding and that this defect was caused by the negligence of the defendant General Motors Corporation in the designing of or manufacturing of the automobile. They alleged further that the defendant Ashby's Incorporated was guilty of negligence in failing to discover the alleged defect, which proved to be a small hole in one of the air lines of the air suspension system of the Pontiac automobile which plaintiff Price had previously purchased from Ashby's Incorporated and which had been manufactured by the defendant General Motors Corporation.

Viewing the evidence in its most favorable light, the plaintiffs proved the happening of the accident and some injuries resulting therefrom. They may also have proved that there was a small hole in the line leading from the air reservoir tank to the manual

control valve of the Pontiac automobile in which the plaintiffs were riding. They failed to prove how this small hole in the air line could have had anything to do with the accident which occurred on April 28, 1958 or that the defendant Ashby's Incorporated was negligent in failing to discover or correct the defect.

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